1959

Leonard Meads v. Richard C. Dibblee and Merrill B. Colton : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties will be referred to as in the Court below.
All italics are ours.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This lawsuit was commenced for the wrongful death
of Ellen Meads, a minor child, in an accident which occur-
red at approximately 10:45 p.m. on the 10th day of

June, 1958, on U.S. Highway 91, approximately 200 feet east of 5th East Street at American Fork, Utah County, Utah. Plaintiff Leonard Meads is the father of the deceased minor, Ellen Meads, and filed this lawsuit pursuant to the provisions of 78-11-6, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. Defendant Richard C. Dibblee was duly appointed Administrator of the Estate of John Richard Salmon, deceased.

Plaintiff alleged that immediately prior to the occurrence complained of, the deceased, John Richard Salmon, was driving a 1951 Mercury 4 door sedan, in an easterly direction along U.S. Highway 91 and approaching the scene of the occurrence heretofore mentioned; that at said time the deceased Ellen Meads was in said vehicle; that travelling some distance behind said Mercury automobile and also proceeding in an easterly direction was a 1954 Kenilworth truck and trailer owned and driven by defendant Merrill Byron Colton; that as the said Mercury automobile was proceeding along, deceased John Richard Salmon pulled off the right hand edge of said highway and then turned to his left and in front of the approaching Kenilworth truck and trailer and that, thereafter, said truck and trailer came with great force and violence into impact with said Mercury automobile, thereby and thus causing and bringing about the deaths of John Richard Salmon and Ellen Meads (R-2).

Plaintiff further alleged that at the time and place heretofore mentioned, deceased John Richard Salmon was guilty of wilful misconduct in that well knowing of

the approach of the Kenilworth truck and trailer and at a time when he knew of the great risk involved, he, nevertheless, undertook to make a left turn in front of said truck and trailer (R-2).

Plaintiff further alleged that defendant Merrill Byron Colton was negligent in (a) not keeping a proper lookout, (b) not keeping said Kenilworth truck and trailer under safe, proper and immediate control, (c) driving at an excessive rate of speed, and (d) not giving adequate and sufficient warning of his approach.

Plaintiff alleged that the wilful misconduct on the part of John Richard Salmon and the negligence on the part of Merrill B. Colton, proximately caused the injuries resulting in the death of said Ellen Meads (R-3).

It was subsequently ascertained through the depositions of Leonard Meads and Ella Meads, parents of the deceased child Ellen Meads, that Ellen Meads and John Richard Salmon were engaged to be married and had gone for an automobile ride. It was further developed that John Richard Salmon died as a result of the accident in question shortly after said accident and that Ellen Meads died as a result of injuries received in said accident on June 17, 1958, approximately one week after the accident. It was admitted at pre-trial that the said John Richard Salmon died as a result of the accident in question prior to the time of the death of the said Ellen Meads, also as a result of the accident.

At pre-trial, counsel for defendant Richard C. Ditt

blee, Administrator of the Estate of John Richard Salmon, made a motion to dismiss the action as against said defendant on the ground and for the reason that 78-11-12, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, did not include said action within its provisions for the reason that the wrongful death action for the death of Ellen Meads did not arise until her death on June 17, 1958, which was subsequent to the death of John Richard Salmon. The judge hearing the pre-trial assigned the case to the trial calendar and continued the matter to May 25, 1959 at 2:00 o'clock p.m. for further argument on said defendant's motion. On May 25, 1959 at 2:00 o'clock p.m., the motion was further argued by counsel before the Honorable Aldon J. Anderson, one of the judges of the Third Judicial District Court. Memorandums of authorities were submitted by counsel for both sides. On the 28th day of May, 1959, the Honorable Aldon J. Anderson granted judgment in favor of Richard C. Dibblee, Administrator of the Estate of John Richard Salmon, deceased, dismissing the lawsuit as against said defendant on its merits and with prejudice, and allowing said action to continue for trial as against the remaining defendant (R-22). On the 10th day of June, 1959, plaintiff filed a petition for order granting intermediate appeal with the Supreme Court (R-26), and subsequently on the 16th day of July, 1959, the Supreme Court entered an order granting an intermediate appeal from the order entered on May 28, 1959, by the District Court of Salt Lake County (R-25).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ORDER IS VIOLATIVE OF THE CLEAR INTENT OF THE UTAH LEGISLATURE IN ENACTING 78-11-12, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ORDER IS VIOLATIVE OF THE CLEAR INTENT OF THE UTAH LEGISLATURE IN ENACTING 78-11-12, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953.

Plaintiff filed this action as the father of his deceased minor child pursuant to the terms of 78-11-6, Utah Code annotated, 1953, which states in part as follows:

"Except as provided in chapter 1, of Title 35, a father, or in case of his death or desertion of his family, the mother, may maintain an action for the death or injury of a minor child when such injury or death is caused by the wrongful act or neglect of another; * * * Any such action may be maintained against the person causing the injury or death, or, if such person is employed by another person who is responsible for his conduct, also against such other person."

In the 1953 session of the Utah Legislature what is now designated as 78-11-12, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, was enacted into law. Said section reads as follows:

"INJURY TO PERSON OR DEATH—NO ABATEMENT OF CAUSE OF ACTION UPON DEATH OF WRONGDOER — ACTION

AGAINST PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF WRONGDOER — EVIDENCE REQUIRED — Causes of action arising out of physical injury to the person or death, caused by the wrongful act or negligence of another, shall not abate upon the death of the wrongdoer, and the injured person or the personal representatives of heirs of one meeting death, as above stated, shall have a cause of action against the personal representatives of the wrongdoer; provided, however, that the injured person or the personal representatives or heirs of one meeting death shall not recover judgment except upon some competent satisfactory evidence other than the testimony of said injured person."

The title of the act in the bill states as follows:

"An act providing for the survival of a cause of action arising out of an injury or death after death of the wrongdoer, and providing that such cause of action shall not abate upon the death of the wrongdoer, and providing further that the injured person or personal representatives of one meeting death shall have a cause of action against the personal representatives of the wrongdoer, and providing that the injured person in such cases shall not be entitled to a recovery except upon competent evidence other than the testimony of the injured person."

As will be remembered, the common law does not provide for death actions by an injured party's representatives or against the representatives of a wrongdoer. The State of Utah has expressed its antipathy to this common law attitude, and it is in this atmosphere that the foregoing statutes were enacted. Article 16, Section 5,

of the Utah Constitution clearly expresses this antipathy to the common law attitude as follows:

“The right of action to recover damages for injuries resulting in death, shall never be abrogated, and the amount recoverable shall not be subject to any statutory limitation, except in cases where compensation for injuries resulting in death is provided by law.”

The Utah Legislature did not intend that any such technical limitations, as are urged by defendant, should be imposed on the rights granted by 78-11-12, U.C.A. 1953. The wording “*causes of action arising out of physical injury to the person or death, caused by the wrongful act or negligence of another*” clearly indicates that the statute gives the right of action for either physical injury or death against the estate of the wrongdoer. The statute provides for no limitation on this right and states nothing whatsoever as to any requirements concerning who should die first. The title of the act itself gives a clear indication of legislative intent when it is stated “*an Act providing for the survival of a cause of action arising out of an injury or death after death of the wrongdoer, and providing that such cause of action shall not abate upon the death of the wrongdoer.*” The construction contended for by defendant would emasculate this statute and would thwart the clear intent of the Legislature in enacting such statute. Inasmuch as the intent is clear from the wording of the statute, it is respectfully submitted that the court should not resort to fictions created by common law in order to defeat such statute. Such a construction as asserted by defendant would create such an anomalous re-

sult that in a case where two persons are killed in an accident by the negligence of another, one dying before the wrongdoer and one dying after the wrongdoer, the representative of the person dying before the wrongdoer would have a cause of action and the representative of the person dying after the wrongdoer would not have a cause of action. Certainly, if the Legislature had meant to so limit this statute, it would have so stated, but instead, the statute in sweeping language, states that causes of action arising out of physical injury to the person or death, without any limitation, may be brought against the estate of the wrongdoer. It seems that nothing could be clearer than the language of this statute.

Defendant relied mainly on the recent Utah case of *Fretz v. Anderson*, 1956, 300 P. 2d 642, 5 Utah 2d 290, as authority for the strange proposition which he urged on the trial court. The question involved in the Fretz case had nothing to do with that involved here. The question dealt with was whether or not the deceased wrongdoer had died before the accident in question. This court held that the question should be given to the jury as to whether or not said decedent had died in the initial overturning of the vehicle or in the subsequent accident in which the plaintiffs were injured. The holding in that case was merely that the jury would have to find that the decedent was alive at the time of the accident in order to return a verdict against deceased's estate. It will be remembered that in the case at bar there is no question but what the deceased, John Richard Salmon, was still alive at the time of the accident in question.

This court in the Fretz case, at page 649 cited cases from other jurisdictions and apparently approved of the reasoning of said cases, to the effect that this type of remedial statute is to be construed liberally. These cases will be mentioned hereinafter, and it is submitted that they sustain the appellant's position in the case at bar. Other cases which will be cited herein also affirm the proposition that such statutes, as the one in question, are remedial and should be construed liberally.

Although it is true that the wrongful death cause of action is not complete until the injured person has died, it is submitted that the foundation of the cause of action is the original injury and that the subsequent death is merely a final occurrence which causes it to ripen into a case. The Supreme Court of the United States has recognized this basic principle in the case of *Francis v. Southern Pac. Co.*, 162 F.2d 813, 333 U.S. 445, 92 L. Ed. 798, 68 S. Ct. 611, where it was held that the wrongful death action is a derivative action in the ordinary meaning of the term, but that the foundation of the right of action is the original wrongful injury and that there can be no recovery under such a statute unless the decedent could have recovered damages for his wrongful injuries if he had survived. In accordance with this philosophy recognizing that the foundation of the cause of action for death is the original injury, this court has held that contributory negligence of the deceased is a bar to the action brought by the heirs of the deceased for their damages on account of his death. This court has held this even though, technically speaking, the death action does not

arise until the death of the injured person and it is an action not for his injuries but a separate action for the loss suffered by the heirs on account of his death. See *Van Wagoner v. Union Pacific*, 186 P. 2d 293, 112 U. 189.

The case of *Kerr v. Basham*, *South Dakota* (1935), 252 N.W. 853, 253 N.W. 490 and 264 N.W. 187, was cited by the Utah Supreme Court in the Fretz case at page 649, and appears to be squarely in point as to the issues which have been raised by defendant in the case at bar. The Kerr case involved a death action against the administrator of the tort-feasor arising out of a collision in which plaintiff's decedent died after defendant's decedent. The court stated at page 854:

"It is true that, if Basham predeceased Bennett, there would be no cause of action existing against Basham for Bennett's death at the moment of Basham's decease, but the foundation of liability was, nevertheless, existent. The liability of Basham (or his estate) is predicated fundamentally upon his wrongful conduct in inflicting upon Bennett the injury of which Bennett subsequently died. The situation is comparable to the contingent liability of a surety on a fidelity bond which never ripens into a cause of action unless and until the principal defaults. The liability of Basham existed in contingent and inchoate form from and after the moment that he inflicted the injury; the condition subsequent which was necessary to ripen such contingent liability into a cause of action being the death of Bennett as a result of the injury. When Bennett died from the injury, the liability previously contingent became absolute, and the cause of action accrued, and under

this particular statute we believe it accrued against Basham, if living (with survival against his estate if he subsequently died), or against Basham's estate, as such, if he had predeceased Bennett. In view of the language of our statute, we do not believe it was intended that the existence of the cause of action for wrongful death should depend upon whether or not the wrongdoer survived his victim."

The statutes involved in South Dakota are similar to the statutes which exist in the State of Utah. The wrongful death statute in South Dakota creates a new cause of action for the benefit of the stated heirs, and the statute creating the liability against the estate of the deceased wrongdoer states in part as follows:

"* * * the corporation which, or the person who would have been liable if death had not ensued, or the administrator or executor of the estate of such person as such administrator or executor, shall be liable to an action for damages, notwithstanding the death of the person injured; ****"

The Kerr case contained a logical argument if it be thought necessary, by which the fiction asserted by defendant in the case at bar can be swept aside, and that is, that the wrongful death action existed from the moment of the negligence of the wrongdoer in an inchoate form with the condition subsequent to ripening into a full blown cause of action being the later death of the victim. Certainly the matter of importance is the wrongful conduct of the deceased wrongdoer. Once being guilty of wrongful conduct and injuring someone, his estate is responsible whether it be for an action for personal injuries or

for wrongful death.

The same type of reasoning was used by the Colorado Supreme Court in the case of *Fish v. Liley, et al.*, 1949, 208 P.2d 930. This was an action for wrongful death against the administratrix of an alleged negligent driver. In said case, the tortfeasor died before the decedent. The Colorado law provided for wrongful death actions in cases where the act of the defendant would have entitled the decedent to an action had he lived and also that all actions except actions including trespass for injuries to person shall survive against representatives of the tortfeasor. The court held, first, that the death act in Colorado was not a survival statute and that it created a new action which arose on the death of the victim for damages to the wife by reason of the husband's death. The court held in answer to a similar contention made by the defendant in that case, that the plaintiff was entitled to maintain such a death action. At page 934, the court stated in part:

"The plaintiff's right of action under the statute was in existence and inchoate at the time of the commission of the wrongful act by Drennan resulting thereafter in the death of her husband."

Also, the court stated on page 934:

"It is important to note that the Death Act is silent concerning the time at which the death and the resultant damages must occur in order for liability thereunder to attach. The Act does not provide that in the event that the tortfeasor dies first no action can be maintained against his representatives by either the injured party or by his

beneficiaries under the Statute. if such a result obtains it results from the common law and it can only follow if the statutory provisions have not brought about a change in the common law."

The Third Circuit Court of Appeals in the case of *Ehrlich v. Merritt*, 96 F. 2d 251, similarly dealt with the same arguments which defendant makes in the case at bar, in a case interpreting the statutes of New Jersey. That also was a wrongful death action against the estate of a driver who died before the death of the passenger victim. The New Jersey statute gave the representative of the deceased injured party the right to sue the tortfeasor for damages which said deceased could have recovered had he lived. Another section allows the representative of the deceased person to sue the wrongdoer's representative in the case where the wrongdoer has committed a trespass against the person or property of another. The court held that these statutes were to be liberally construed, that the latter statute provides liability for trespasses committed while alive and makes no distinction as to the cases where the tortfeasor dies first. At page 254, in dealing with such an argument made by the defendant in that case, the court stated:

"This argument is not only contrary to the remedial purposes of the two statutes involved, but is also unwarranted by the wording of the statutes themselves."

"* * * It makes no distinction between cases in which the tortfeasor predeceases the injured party and cases in which the injured party predeceases the tortfeasor."

The court further stated that courts of New Jersey have repeatedly held that these statutes, being remedial, must be liberally construed, and that the courts interpreting them should at all times seek to "supress the mischief and advance the remedy." The foregoing case was also cited in the Fretz case at page 649.

A series of cases from the State of Michigan further touches the argument herein made. See *Ford V. Maney's Estate*, 232 N.W. 393; *Justin v. Ketcham*, 298 N.W. 294, and *In re Olney's Estate*, 14 N.W. 2d 574.

In keeping with the theory of liberal construction, the court in the Justin case stated:

"No authorities have been cited that, at common law, survival from the initial injury in fact, although for a short time, was not sufficient to permit a cause of action to vest. There is no good reason for restricting the terms of our survival act, which are general, nor for creating legal fictions in order to relieve a wrongdoer from the consequences of his wrong."

In both the Justin and Olney cases, the tort-feasor died before the injured person, and the question was whether or not, under common law rules, a cause of action accrued upon which the survival act could operate. It is respectfully submitted that in none of the foregoing cases are the statutes as clear and direct as the Utah statute.

In rejecting Massachusetts cases which were cited by defendant in his memorandum in the case at bar, the Supreme Court of Erie County, New York, in the case of *Maloney v. Victor*, 25 N.Y.S. 2d 257, dealt with the same

question, although it arose in another manner. That case was an action against defendant's testator for personal injuries and property damage where the complaint alleged that the collision resulted in the immediate death of the testator. The defendant argued that there could be no survival because the defendant testator was killed immediately. The survival statute in New York stated:

"No cause of action for injury to person or property shall be lost because of the death of the person liable for the injury."

The court stated at page 258:

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