1959

Leonard Meads v. Richard C. Dibblee and Merrill B. Colton : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED THE ACTION AS AGAINST THE ESTATE.

At common law no one could maintain a wrongful death action nor could such an action be brought against the estate of the wrongdoer. By statute in this state the common law rule was changed to permit wrongful death actions to be filed by a personal representative or by the heirs of the deceased against a living person. The common law rule still remained in effect in Utah precluding actions for injuries or death against the estate of the wrongdoer.

In 1953 the Utah Legislature enacted Section 78-11-12 which provides as follows:

"Causes of action arising out of physical in-

jury to the person or death, caused by the wrongful act or negligence of another, *shall not abate* upon the death of the wrongdoer. ***." (Italics ours)

The Utah Supreme Court considered this statute in the case of *Fretz v. Anderson*, 5 Utah (2d) 290, 300 Pac. (2d) 642. In that case one Anderson while driving south on U. S. Highway 91 overturned his car near Holden, Utah. The car blocked the northbound lane of traffic. The plaintiff while proceeding north along the highway at night failed to see the Anderson vehicle blocking her lane, and crashed into it. Following that accident, Anderson was dead. No evidence was presented as to whether Anderson had died prior to the second accident. This Court in that case stated as follows:

"The survival statute, U. C. A. 1953, 78-11-12, provides that the cause of action shall not abate upon the death of the wrongdoer; *thus, the cause of action cannot arise at a time beyond the life of the tortfeasor.*" (Italics ours)

The reasoning of this Court was that the language "shall not abate" required that a cause of action had to be in existence prior to the death of the wrongdoer. Accordingly, this Court reversed the judgment in favor of the plaintiff and sent the case back for a new trial to determine whether Anderson was alive or dead at the time of the second accident.

In the Fretz case this court has construed Section 78-11-12 and said that if the action is not to be abated, it must have been in existence before the death of the

tortfeasor, or putting the matter another way, the cause of action cannot arise after the death of the tortfeasor. This being the case, the only question involved on this appeal is whether there was a wrongful death action in existence at the time of Salmon's death. If not, Section 78-11-12 does not cover the situation. The matter is still governed by the common law. The plaintiff would have no cause of action against the estate. It was and is the respondent's position in this case that since the plaintiff's intestate did not die until a week after Salmon, any cause of action which the plaintiff had for wrongful death did not and could not arise until the death of the plaintiff's intestate. It was, therefore, not in existence prior to Salmon's death which is the requirement in the Fretz case. There was nothing on which our survival statute could, therefore, apply.

Counsel for appellant in his brief refers to certain constitutional provisions of the Utah State Constitution to the effect that a right of action to recover damages for wrongful death shall not be abrogated. This is wholly inapplicable. Prior to the passage of Section 78-11-12 there was no right of action to recover for personal injuries or wrongful death against the estate of the wrongdoer. For that matter, prior to the enactment of Section 78-11-6, or its earlier counterpart, the plaintiff would not have had a cause of action for wrongful death even as against a living wrongdoer.

Any tortious cause of action requires at least two elements, namely, a negligent act, and damage. Before

a wrongful death action can be maintained, the death of some person must have occurred. The action is simply not in existence and can not be filed until the death.

Bouv. Law Dictionary defines a cause of action as follows:

“A cause of action is said to accrue to any person *when that person first comes to a right to bring an action.*” (Italics ours.)

Obviously, the plaintiff in this action did not have a right to bring an action until his daughter's death. At that time it is equally true that Salmon was dead. The plaintiff under our survival statute, particularly as interpreted by this Court in the Fretz case, cannot recover as against Salmon.

See also *Post v. Campan*, 3 N.W. 272 at page 275, wherein the Court held:

“The elements of a cause of action are—First, a breach of duty owing by one person to another; and, second, a damage resulting to the other from the breach.”

See also *Hegel v. George* (Wis.), 259 N.W. 862, at page 863, wherein the court, in holding that a cause of action for wrongful death does not arise until the victim's death, stated:

“It is true, of course, that in part the cause of action springs from or arises out of negligence or willful wrong. Certainly, it is dependent upon the doing of a tortious act. *It is equally true that it has no existence unless and until death occurs, any more than a cause of action for negligence*

comes into being in advance of injury proximately caused by the act. No one can sue upon it, not because of any personal disability, but because there is no cause of action." (Italics ours)

Appellant's counsel at page 9 of his brief concedes that the wrongful death action "is not complete until the injured person has died," and says that "technically speaking" the death action does not arise until the death of the injured person. This Court in the case of *Van Wagoner v. Union Pacific Railroad Co.*, 112 Utah 189, 186 Pac. (2d) 293, in speaking of the wrongful death action stated that the same "is founded on the same unlawful acts of the defendant, but the loss and damages suffered by them *arise out of the death of the deceased.*" The Legislature has thus said the right of action vests in the heirs at law *if death ensues* * * * it bases recovery on the wrongful death by another." (Italics ours) This being the case, we believe the conclusion is inescapable that there was no wrongful death action as against Salmon in existence prior to his own death. Since this Court already has held in the Fretz case that "the cause of action cannot arise at a time beyond the life of the tort feisor," the conclusion is likewise inescapable that the action cannot be maintained against the estate.

Counsel for appellant complains that the judgment entered in this case emasculates the statute and brings about a harsh and unjust result. The answer to this argument has been well stated by this Honorable Court in the case of *Brown v. Wightman*, 47 Utah 31, 151 Pac. 366, wherein it was said:

“While the common-law rule is a harsh one, and its enforcement in this case is peculiarly unjust, we nevertheless can see no way of escaping it. The right and power, as well as the duty, of creating rights and to provide remedies, lies with the Legislature, and not with the courts. Courts can only protect and enforce existing rights, and they may do that only in accordance with established and known remedies.”

See also *Claussen v. Brothers*, (S.C.), 145 S.E. 539, wherein it is said:

“While the act is remedial, and a liberal construction should be given to its provisions (*Morris v. Spartanburg Gas & E. Co.*, 70 S.C. 281, 49 S.E. 855), we must resort, in arriving at the intent of the Legislature, to the actual words used in the Statute, and the court should not place such judicial construction upon the language used as to effectuate its own conception of right rather than the intent of the Legislature.”

See also *Martinelli v. Burke*, (Mass.) 10 N.E. (2d) 113, wherein the Massachusetts court quotes with approval from one of its previous decisions as follows:

“A statute cannot be extended by construction or enlargement beyond its fair import. If it does not reasonably include a right of action, none can be implied. The argument of hardship or unintentional omission is not enough.”

In considering legal authorities cited in our own brief as well as those cited by the appellant's counsel it is important to make certain distinctions.

1. ACTIONS FOR PERSONAL INJURIES MUST BE DISTINGUISHED FROM THOSE FOR WRONGFUL DEATH.

Although the authorities are in conflict, those cases which hold that the plaintiff may sue for personal injuries against the estate of the deceased wrongdoer do so either under their own peculiar statute, or because it is impossible to say that a person died before the injury was inflicted.

The following cases cited by appellant involve personal injury only: *Cash v. Addington*, (N.M.) 131 Pac. (2d) 265; *Ford v. Maney's Estate* (Mich.) 232 N.W. 393; *Booth v. Frankenstein*, (Wis.) 245 N.W. 191; *Merrill v. Beckwith* (5th) 61 Fed. (2d) 912; *Maloney v. Victor*, 25 NYS (2d) 257.

The reasoning in *Cash v. Addington*, (N.M.), 131 Pac. (2d) 265, is as follows:

“*** Addington’s injury necessarily preceded his death, and life could not possibly have become extinct before Cash and his automobile were injured. ***”

In *Ford v. Maney's Estate*, (Mich.) 232 N.W. 393, the Michigan court used the same reasoning and then added this statement:

“Whether an action would survive where the tortfeasor is in fact killed at the instant of injury to a plaintiff may be left to a proper case and the assistance of briefs upon the specific point.”

This clearly indicates that the opinion of the Michigan Court does not cover the present situation.

In *Booth v. Frankenstein*, (Wis.) 245 N.W. 191, the court in that case said:

“However, we do not find it necessary to decide, *and we do not decide* whether the principle contended for is valid.” (Italics ours)

The principle contended for in that case was that the personal injury action did not arise until the injury was complete.

In *Merrill v. Beckwith*, (Fifth Circuit) 61 Fed. (2d) 912, the court said:

“Merrill’s injury necessarily preceded his death and life could not possibly have become extinct before Billy Beckwith was injured.”

In *Maloney v. Victor*, 25 N.Y.S. (2d) 257, the same reasoning was applied. The appellant in commenting upon this case states that it rejected the Massachusetts case of *Martinelli v. Burke*. In this connection the New York Court in referring to the case of *Martinelli v. Burke* said:

“It is at least questionable whether the decision is strictly in point in view of the terms of the statute involved, ***”

indicating that there was a difference in the statutes in the two states.

From the foregoing it is apparent that cases involving personal injury are clearly distinguished from those involving wrongful death. All of them go upon the theory that plaintiff’s injury necessarily preceded defendant’s death, however instantaneous. Both elements of the cause of action, to-wit: negligence and injury, were in existence prior to the death. That argument cannot pos-

sibly be made in death cases. In the injury case both the wrong and the damage are in existence prior to the death. In this action, the death, which this Court has stated is the basis for the action, did not occur until a week after Salmon died. Personal injury cases are, therefore, simply not in point on the question presented by this appeal.

2. IN WRONGFUL DEATH CASES STATUTES INVOLVED MUST BE CAREFULLY ANALYZED.

In considering the cases on the subject involving wrongful death actions against the estate of the tortfeasor, it is of the utmost importance to distinguish between the statutes in force in those states and the statute as it exists in the State of Utah. The decisions in the various courts readily reflect that they have been based entirely upon the particular statute involved.

The statutes in general upon which the cases have been based can be put into two separate groups which are hereinafter separately stated and considered.

(a) STATUTES, LIKE UTAH, IN WHICH IT IS SAID THE ACTION "SHALL NOT ABATE."

We know of only two cases in which the statutes construed had the words "shall not abate." In each of these cases the courts held that the wrongful death action did not lie against the estate of the tortfeasor.

The first of these cases is *McLellan v. Automobile Ins. Co. of Hartford, Conn.* (Ninth Circuit) 80 Fed. (2d) 344. This was an action by a special administrator against an insurance company. The sole issue presented

on the appeal was whether under the statutes of Arizona there was a survival of the right of action in favor of the appellant administrator to recover against the administrator of the estate of the deceased wrongdoer. This was the sole basis of the demurrer and of the decision of the lower court. Arizona statute provided that an action "may not abate" by the death or disability of a party. The specific question, as indicated by the Federal Court, was:

"We must therefore examine the statutes of Arizona, and determine whether or not they specifically authorize an action for 'death by wrongful act' after the death of the alleged wrongdoer."

The Court then held that under the Arizona statute the cause of action did not survive against the estate of the wrongdoer.

See also in this same class the case of *Yount v. National Bank of Jackson, Executor*, (Mich.), 42 N.W. (2d) 110. There an automobile accident had occurred in Alabama resulting in the death of certain Michigan residents. The driver died first and one of the passengers a few hours later. Administration on both estates was in Michigan. The passenger's administrator brought the instant action against the driver's executor in Michigan under the wrongful death statute of Alabama. The statute, after authorizing actions for wrongful death, provided that "such action *shall not abate* by the death of the defendant but may be revived against his personal representative." (Italics ours)

The principal question was whether the cause of action survived the death of the driver. This, the court held, was governed by the law of Alabama. The court then held, considering the terms of the statute and the construction placed upon it by the Alabama Courts, that there was no change in the common-law rule, and the cause of action did not survive.

The Michigan court after reviewing the Alabama Statute and decisions, said:

“The statute relied upon by plaintiff does not change the common law rule that ex delicto causes of action do not survive the death of the tortfeasor where the tortfeasor’s death precedes that of his victim.”

Thus, in the only cases where the statute used the language “shall not abate” the decisions are in harmony and to the effect that the action does not lie against the estate of the wrongdoer.

(b) STATUTES WHICH PROVIDE IN SUBSTANCE THAT THE PERSON WHO WOULD HAVE BEEN LIABLE IF DEATH HAD NOT ENSUED SHALL BE LIABLE, AND WHEN THE ACTION IS AGAINST AN ADMINISTRATOR OR ESTATE, THE DAMAGES RECOVERED SHALL BE A VALID CLAIM AGAINST THE ESTATE OF SUCH DECEASED PERSON.

Cases in this classification with statutes different than ours are based upon their own peculiar provisions and are clearly not in point for that reason. The general type of statute for this classification of cases permits the action to be brought against the estate of the wrongdoer

if the action might have been maintained by the decedent in his lifetime. That is something wholly different from our own statute. Clearly, the decedent could have maintained an action for injury in his lifetime, and that being the case, under those statutes an action could be maintained against the estate of the wrongdoer. However, even under statutes having this particular wording, the authorities are in irreconcilable conflict. In this category the following cases have held the action cannot be maintained: *In-re Olney's Estate* (Mich.) 14 N.W. (2d) 574; *Martinelli v. Burke* (Mass.) 10 N.E. (2d) 113; *Silva v. Keegan* (Mass.) 23 N.E. (2d) 867; *Claussen v. Brothers*, (S.C.) 145 S.E. 539; *Beaver's Adm'r v. Putnam's Curator* (Va.) 67 S.E. 353, and *Hegel v. George*, (Wis.) 259 N.W. 862. Cases adopting the contrary view are *Kerr v. Basham*, 252 N.W. 853, 353 N.W. 490, 264 N.W. 187; *Fish v. Liley*, (Colo.) 208 Pac. (2d) 930; *Ehrlich v. Merritt*, 96 Fed. (2d) 251, (3rd Cir.), and *Kuhle et al. v. Swedlund*, (Minn.) 20 N.W. (2d) 396.

In this category we will first consider the cases cited by and relied upon by counsel for appellant and show that they are based upon their own peculiar statute and therefore clearly distinguishable from our own case.

In *Kerr v. Basham*, 252 N.W. 853, 253 N.W. 490, 264 N.W. 187, the statute provided:

“* * * The corporation which, or the person who, would have been liable, if death had not ensued, or the administrator or executor of the estate of such person as such administrator or executor, shall be liable to an action for damages, not-

withstanding the death of the person injured; *** and when the action is against such administrator or executor, the damages recovered shall be a valid claim against the estate of such deceased person."

The South Dakota court in that case held:

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